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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mrs J L Wood

	Scheme
	:
	The Nationwide Pension Fund

	Respondents
	:
	The Trustees of the Nationwide Pension Fund (the Trustees)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mrs Wood asserts that the Trustees have failed to consider her for an incapacity pension in a proper manner. 

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

3. Mrs Wood has asked that I consider holding an oral hearing. The matters under consideration relate to evidence which is readily available to me in documentary form and, for this reason, I am not minded to hold an oral hearing.

MATERIAL FACTS

Trust Deed and Rules

4. The relevant parts of the Scheme’s governing documentation are set out in Appendix 1 of this determination.

Background

5. Mrs Wood was employed by the Nationwide Building Society (Nationwide) from 1980 to August 2003, when her employment was terminated.

6. In November 2000, Mrs Wood was involved in a road traffic accident. Although she returned to work in December 2000, Mrs Wood went on sick leave on 1 May 2001 and did not return to work thereafter.

7. In May 2001, Mrs Wood’s GP, Dr Fowler, wrote to Nationwide:

“… She had a whiplash injury in early November last year and has been experiencing pain in the upper back and neck since. I haven’t actually seen her myself for about three months and hence I am not sure exactly how she is progressing but she saw a specialist a month ago when he described “continuing pain”. She has had normal x-rays and MRI scan of the area. Hence the most likely diagnosis is soft tissue damage …

Regarding the future, I would anticipate gradual recovery, although the time scale for this is very varied after this sort of injury and symptoms can linger for many months and, sometimes, even years. Her ability to continue as normal, including with her work, I would say is largely governed by her symptoms. I wouldn’t expect the work you describe to affect the progress of her condition but I am sure her ability to perform her duties would be affected if she was in chronic pain. Usually after whiplash injuries I would encourage people to return to normal activities, including work, as soon as possible after the incident. I can’t think of any support or special equipment that would be particularly helpful, except awareness and understanding that her symptoms may linger some time yet with good and bad days …”

8. Mrs Wood’s treating physician, Dr Helliwell (Consultant Rheumatologist), wrote to Nationwide on 22 May 2001:

“… I reviewed [Mrs Wood] on 17 May 2001 for the purpose of this report. [Mrs Wood] reported an improvement in her back pain although she still experienced pain after several hours of prolonged sitting. There was still localised tenderness on palpation although this was less pronounced …

… I would recommend that [Mrs Wood] has a “fold away” bed in her office. She should start off by working 2 hours in the morning but should be allowed 2 hours break in the middle of the day in order to lie down and rest. [Mrs Wood] feels that after this she would be able to do a further 2 hours work in the afternoon.

If this regime works successfully then the amount of working hours can be increased (i.e. 2½ hours either side of the 2 hour resting period).

PROGNOSIS

I feel that the prognosis is good so long as [Mrs Wood] does not attempt too much too soon. Even with the pressures of work she must discipline herself to ensure that she takes the full rest times while increasing her working times on a gradual basis. My main concern is that if she attempts to return to full-time work too soon that she might cause a worsening of her symptoms or even develop fibromyalgia which sometimes follows injuries caused by road traffic accidents.”

9. Dr Fowler wrote to Nationwide again in October 2001. He said that Mrs Wood was still experiencing considerable pain in her upper thoracic spine and that there had been little improvement in recent months. Dr Fowler said that he thought that progress would be slow and that the longer the symptoms went on the less likely it was that Mrs Wood would recover. He suggested that a staged return to work would be ideal and that Mrs Wood might be able to cope with it. Dr Fowler said:

“As regards, as to whether she can give a regular and efficient service in the future, I don’t think I can answer this with certainty.

Her current treatment is … I have also referred her to the local pain clinic …

Overall her progress has been frustratingly slow over the last ten months. I think that the majority of healing of the original damage will have occurred by now, although sometimes you see recovery a year or more after injuries such as this. Hence I think it likely that the pain will now remain chronic to some degree. She has also had some symptoms of depression over the year, probably as a result of what has happened, and this will undoubtedly aggravate her symptoms. Concerning a return to work, as before I would encourage this as soon as possible, as I think this could be “therapeutic” and improve her well-being. However, if she feels she will be unable to cope with the workload or, as her employer, if you feel she will be unable to fulfil her duties satisfactorily in her current condition then I don’t think this situation will change in the foreseeable future.”

10. In April 2002, Nationwide suggested that Mrs Wood would benefit from an assessment for potential rehabilitation. Following a telephone call from Mrs Wood agreeing for a ‘Blankenship’ Functional Capacity Evaluation (FCE) assessment
 to be arranged for her, it commissioned a report from a chartered physiotherapist, Ms Love, at Blankenship-Hanoun FCE Ltd. Ms Love reported, on 23 May 2002:

“Overall, the FCE result indicated poor effort with some marked self limitation. The pain/disability questionnaire profile was scored as ‘High’ and the numeric pain profile was averaged as ‘High’ (near maximal). Non-organic signs were clearly identified and there was some marked overreaction behaviour. Further, there were some significant changes in the patient’s movement patterns, strength and symptoms by distraction during the FCE.

EXAMPLES OF DISTRACTION

· The patient appeared to have some limited spinal flexion by direct testing … yet she was routinely able to sit normally in a chair with 90º flexion at the hips and knees, and in forward-lean sitting at times, which indicated good spinal flexion and normal hip flexion by indirect assessment.

· Spinal flexion also improved at other times during the evaluation, with the ability to reach to the floor at times with fluid, pain free movement.

· The patient initially presented with a markedly abnormal gait pattern and appeared to have difficulty weight-bearing on the left leg at first; however, this curious gait pattern was not consistent throughout the evaluation, indeed was not present by distraction on numerous occasions.

· There were also changes by distraction within the non-organic profile.

· During DTM testing the patient reported maximal pain and produced marked overreaction behaviour to very light pressure (little more than skin touch) applied over the entire left side of the spine … However, moments after the DTM test was completed the patient sat down, in so doing bringing her weight (body weight 183 lbs) down on the same structures that were reported as extremely painful moments before to only 1.4 lbs of light pressure, this time without any apparent sign of discomfort or report of pain, and with no overreaction behaviour …

From the medical perspective,  it is reasonable to expect that no matter how a particular function is tested … broadly the same level of function should be produced consistently … This was not the case for this patient, and her movement patterns and behaviour had at best, equivocal correlation with the degree of reported symptoms, impairment and disability. Accordingly, ‘True’ Symptom and Disability Exaggeration was present by test criteria.

This is not to suggest that the patient has no pain or disability/impairment. However, the conclusions drawn for this profile are on the basis that the patient can give a normal cognitive response to the Informed Consent and that the patient knowingly and in full understanding, agreed to give her best consistent effort throughout the FCE to the best of her ability, although clearly did not always do so.

On this basis, the FCE data indicates that the patient was attempting to influence the results of the FCE in order to appear more disabled than is actually the case. Therefore, assessment by direct methods or on a bias of subjective methods (i.e. principally the patient’s subjective self-reporting) is likely to be profoundly unreliable due to this illness behaviour …

In my opinion, the overall impression was that of a patient who does in all likelihood, have a low-grade, constitutional and posturally-related thoracic and low back problem, which may well have been exacerbated by the material RTA. Unfortunately, the reported problem was associated with a level of illness behaviour that prevented accurate assessment of her best or consistent actual functional abilities by direct assessment.

However, even the sub-maximal FCE data and overall activity profile established indicates a patient with a good daily functional postural tolerance profile, who can perform self-paced light household chores, light meal preparation, light shopping, driving, and some of her own personal care needs independently. In my professional opinion, the overall impression was that of a young patient with a level of low-grade disability who is not motivated to return to work in any capacity, despite her clear ability to do so. It is also of note that there is ongoing litigation in this case, and there is empirically unlikely to be a resolution of symptoms until the litigation draws to a close.

Overall, her self-limited performance, changes of range and quality of movement, strength and symptoms by distraction, and the presence of non-organic signs, may all be reasonably interpreted as a clear signal that the patient will resist all attempts at RTW, despite her clear demonstrated ability to do so in appropriate duties.”

11. On 30 August 2002, Dr Helliwell wrote to Mrs Wood:

“Thank you for sending me a copy of the Functional Capacity Evaluation Report. I have to say that I had some difficulty in interpreting this. There certainly appeared to be an element of bias in that you seem to have been “pre-judged” having only scored 67% on so-called Validity Criteria and therefore any assessment result could be attributed to poor effort on your part. I also feel that some of the comments regarding your performance were unfair and bordering on the insulting.

In particular, this was exemplified by the Digital Tenderness Mapping when it was noticed that you displayed “marked tenderness even to light skin touch”. This was “accompanied by marked over reaction behaviours …”. No comment was made that this represented a condition called allodynia which is a cardinal feature of the Fibromyalgia Syndrome and accounts for the classic trigger points or tender points found in patients suffering from this condition.

Most, if not all, of the tests that were performed would appear to be completely irrelevant to the assessment of patients with fibromyalgia. Indeed none of them to my knowledge have ever been validated in assessing the Fybromyalgia Syndrome. I have reviewed a number of papers including a recent paper in the British Medical Journal from July this year and I have found no reference to any of the tests listed in the Functional Capacity Evaluation report. Furthermore, I note that you were asked to perform these tests after a 3 hour train journey followed by a 30 minute taxi ride which left you fatigued and in pain. It is hardly surprising therefore that your overall performance was sub-optimal.

Although it has been recommended that you return to work, my opinion is that returning to work even on a part-time basis might exacerbate your condition and my concern is that should this happen you may become even more incapacitated than you are now given that you have shown little response to treatment that has included various medications, extensive physiotherapy and other interventions such as “trigger point” injections. It would seem to be extremely foolhardy both on your employers and your part to risk this possibility.

Therefore, in conclusion I would suggest that you discuss with your Personnel department the necessity of retiring on medical grounds and I would certainly support this application.”

12. Mrs Wood wrote to Nationwide on 9 September 2002, explaining that she had discussed the Functional Capacity Evaluation Report with Dr Helliwell. She said that she was angry and hurt by some of the comments made by Ms Love and that certain of her own comments had been misquoted or left out of the report. Mrs Wood said that she had been seen by Dr Helliwell in May 2002 and that he had prepared a report on 22 July 2002; a copy of which she enclosed. She also enclosed a copy of Dr Helliwell’s letter of 30 August 2002. Mrs Wood said that she was willing to be examined by any other specialist instructed by the Nationwide, provided that they were “prepared to be fair, open minded and have some, even elementary, knowledge of Fibromyalgia”.

13. In his report of 22 July 2002, Dr Helliwell said:

“[Mrs Wood] has typical symptoms of the Fibromyalgia Syndrome – widespread musculoskeletal pain, fatigue and sleep disturbance. In addition she exhibits other more minor features such as headache, waking unrefreshed and cognitive disturbance. Typically these symptoms show a great deal of variability and [Mrs Wood] has learned to control her symptoms to some extent by modifying her activities and “pacing” herself.

The clinical features are also in keeping with a diagnosis of fibromyalgia with more than 11 tender points in the typical sites seen in fibromyalgia.

In my previous report of 29 August 2001 I alluded to the possibility that [Mrs Wood] might be developing secondary fibromyalgia following the thoracic spine injury … and at that time I found “trigger points” around both scapular areas again suggesting that she might be developing secondary fibromyalgia as a consequence of the original injury … I raised the possibility that [Mrs Wood] might be developing features of full blown fibromyalgia and unfortunately these suspicions have become sadly prophetic.

In the absence of any previous musculoskeletal symptoms or disorders it seems reasonable to attribute the development of the Fibromyalgia Syndrome to her accident on 6 November 2000. What is particularly disappointing is that [Mrs Wood] sought medical help at a very early despite (sic) and despite intensive treatment which included extensive physiotherapy and trigger point injections, there has been a relentless evolution towards the development of fibromyalgia.

Given her current symptoms I do not believe that she will be able to continue in her current employment. It is possible that she might be able to work part-time and, if so, she should consider some form of work that she can do from home so that she can “pace” herself, rest when needed and avoid driving. In these circumstances I envisage that she could work 2-3 hours a day.

[Mrs Wood] is able to undertake most essential activities of daily living but will certainly need help with any physical tasks such as gardening, shopping and driving for long distances.

I feel that [Mrs Wood’s] fibromyalgia has reached full evolution and I do not think that it is likely to deteriorate further. In this respect I do not think that her needs will increase in the future.”

14. Nationwide wrote to Mrs Wood on 28 November 2002, advising her that its medical advisers would arrange for her to be seen by a specialist in fibromyalgia.

15. Nationwide wrote to Mrs Wood again on 18 December 2002, explaining that the delay in arranging a consultation with a specialist had been caused by its desire to arrange an appointment as close to her home as possible to avoid excessive travelling. With regard to the Functional Capacity Evaluation, Nationwide said that this, together with an alternative assessment, had been mentioned to Mrs Wood in April 2002 and that she had been sent brochures for the assessments in order for her to decide which she would like to go ahead with. It said:

“On 11th April 2002, you spoke with … and requested that I proceed with arranging the assessment in London and the appointment was made for 22nd May 2002. No mention was made at the time that you considered that the proposed evaluations would be of no diagnostic benefit and were an ‘invalid indicator of fibromyalgia’; the evaluations were offered and accepted in order to determine specific rehabilitation recommendations and to give you the opportunity to see whether the Hanoun system may even be a remedial option for you.”

16. Nationwide noted that Mrs Wood had asked about early retirement on the grounds of permanent incapacity and said that details would be sent to her separately. It said that the medical advisers to the pension fund would request reports from her treating physicians for that purpose. On 18 December 2002, Mrs Wood was sent authorisation forms to allow the Scheme’s medical advisers to contact her GP and consultant and she was asked to provide details of all the doctors and specialists who had been involved in her treatment. The covering letter stated:

“In order to qualify for a permanent incapacity early retirement pension, an individual must present satisfactory evidence of incapacity which, for this purpose, is defined as disablement for normal (generic) employment which is likely to be permanent or continuing at least until the normal retirement age of 60 years and which renders the applicant incapable of performing her normal employment until normal retirement age.”

17. The letter explained that permanent incapacity early retirement (PIER) applications were evaluated using a minimum of two medical reports and that the Scheme’s medical advisers (BMI Health Services (BMI)) would provide a recommendation for the Trustees’ PIER sub-committee, which met every other month.

18. In response to a request for a report, Dr Helliwell wrote to BMI on 13 February 2003:

“… [Mrs Wood] was involved in a road traffic accident in November 2000 and because of persistent pain in the mid and lower thoracic region she consulted me … on 8 March 2001.

Examination showed localised tenderness from the mid-thoracic to thoracolumbar junction with tenderness of the paravertebral tissues suggesting the early development of secondary fibromyalgia. An MRI scan showed no evidence of a disc bulge or protrusion.

[Mrs Wood] was treated with physiotherapy, low dose amitriptyline and infiltrations to the interspinous ligaments with local anaesthetic and dilute steroid. None of these treatment had any lasting benefit.

Since then I have kept [Mrs Wood] under review. She was last examined by me on 22 July 2002. She then reported more widespread pain affecting her neck and lumbar region with pain over the lateral aspects of both hips. The pain was provoked by physical activity. She also reported increasing fatigue and loss of energy with a disturbed sleep pattern. She had noted the development of cognitive disturbance and poor memory. At that time she was walking with a stick. Examination showed restriction of all lumbar spinal movements but no evidence of nerve root irritation or compression. The main finding was of numerous tender points in the typical sites seen in patients with fibromyalgia.

My feeling was that [Mrs Wood] had developed fibromyalgia as a consequence of her road traffic accident. As you are probably aware, this is a chronic condition which responds poorly, if at all, to any medical treatment. On the basis that [Mrs Wood] has not improved since I last saw her I would certainly deem her as being incapable of rendering regular and effective service in the duties of her previous job as a branch manager for [Nationwide]. I would certainly support her request for ill health retirement. Long term sickness certification would be provided through her general practitioner.”

19. On the same day, Dr Fowler wrote to BMI:

“… She was involved in an RTA in November 2000. Almost immediately after the impact and since then she has been experiencing severe pain in the upper thoracic spine. She has extreme sensitivity to light touch in the area which hasn’t lessened with time and presumably damage to local soft tissue and nerves is responsible. Additionally she has gradually developed more generalised muscle pain and tenderness. She has seen various specialists and secondary fibromyalgia has been suggested as a cause for the more widespread symptoms, although not all of the specialists have been definite with a diagnosis. Regardless of the cause for her symptoms they have not really improved at all in the last two years.

…

Currently her disability is considerable. She uses a stick and needs to take frequent rests during the day when the pain builds up. The lack of progress, especially in view of the various inputs, is discouraging and I think it is likely that her symptoms will remain chronic for the foreseeable future. Bearing this in mind, I think it very unlikely she will be fit to return to work for the foreseeable future and I would support her request for ill health retirement.”

20. Nationwide notified Mrs Wood, on 14 February 2003, that an appointment had been made for her to see a specialist in fibromyalgia, Dr Cawley, on 3 March 2003. Dr Cawley reported on 14 March 2003. In his covering letter, he said that he was in general agreement with Dr Helliwell. Dr Cawley said that he had seen reports from Mrs Wood’s GP, dated 9 May and 15 October 2001, and reports from Dr Helliwell, dated 22 July and 30 August 2002, and 13 February 2003 (the latter two provided by Mrs Wood). Dr Cawley gave a history of Mrs Wood’s condition, details of his examination and a review of the previous medical reports. He concluded:

“[Mrs Wood] had been very healthy until she was involved in a road traffic accident …

Somewhat unusually, [Mrs Wood’s] predominant symptoms following the accident were in her thoracic region rather than her neck. This has continued to be the main site of symptoms ever since. Medical assessment at the time and subsequently revealed pain, tenderness and restriction of movement in the thoracic spine. According to [Mrs Wood] an MRI scan and bone scan have not shown any major structural injury, and Dr Helliwell confirmed that the MRI was normal …

[Mrs Wood] attempted to return to work soon after the accident and was able to continue at work intermittently until April 2001 … she has not returned to work since. It appears that this was because her symptoms had deteriorated and become more widespread. In addition, she states that she is now unable to undertake a variety of domestic and leisure activities which she enjoyed previously, including housework, gardening, walking and scuba-diving.

It is apparent from the available documentation and my own clinical assessment that [Mrs Wood] has now developed the clinical syndrome known as fibromyalgia. This is a condition in which there is widespread musculoskeletal pain and tenderness and the tenderness is most marked at a number of defined anatomical sites and is reliably reproducible. The condition is also associated with a poor sleep pattern and fatigue, and in some people overlaps with chronic fatigue syndrome. The cause of fibromyalgia is not known but it not uncommonly follows a physically or mentally stressful event … The response of fibromyalgia to treatment is often poor and full recovery may take many years or not occur at all.

[Mrs Wood] appears to have been given the various forms of therapy which have been reported to improve the fibromyalgia syndrome, but her response has been poor. In my opinion it is unlikely that [Mrs Wood] will be able to resume the type of responsible job which she had previously. The ergonomic details of her job are not a matter about which I have special expertise, but I envisage would require physical and mental fitness and stability and the capacity to deal with clients and staff with full concentration.

Although a graded return to work could be attempted, supported by cognitive behaviour therapy and medication as required, I am doubtful that this would produce sufficient improvement to justify the investment of time and resources.”

21. The Pensions Department wrote to Mrs Wood on 11 April 2003, saying that an appointment had been made for her to see an occupational physician, Dr Collins. They acknowledged that she had expressed a preference to see a consultant rheumatologist and said that her own consultant’s opinion would be taken into account when the Fund’s medical advisers made their recommendation. In response, Mrs Wood explained that her concerns, about the validity of an assessment by someone who was not a rheumatologist, were based on her previous experience of the Functional Capacity Evaluation. She asked to be told which reports would be seen and by whom. Mrs Wood also pointed out that Dr Cawley had not been provided with copies of Dr Helliwell’s reports of 30 August 2002 or 13 February 2003.

22. In response, the Pensions Department explained that the medical information obtained in respect of an application for PIER was separate to that obtained by Nationwide in respect of her employment. They said that the PIER sub-committee would see reports provided by Mrs Wood’s GP, Dr Helliwell and Dr Collins, together with a recommendation from BMI. The Pensions Department said that medical information provided for Nationwide would not normally be included in the papers submitted to the PIER sub-committee but, if Mrs Wood gave her authorisation, it could be. They said that Dr Collins would not have received copies of medical reports obtained for the purposes of Mrs Wood’s employment but that Dr Sheard (the BMI physician who had recommended that Mrs Wood be seen by Dr Collins) would have reviewed the reports provided by the physicians treating her.

23. Following her consultation with Dr Collins, Mrs Wood wrote to the Personnel Department expressing dissatisfaction with the interview. She said that Dr Collins had not had all of the previous medical reports despite Mrs Wood’s request that these be provided and that her examination had been cursory. Mrs Wood again expressed the view that the assessment should have been carried out by a rheumatologist.

24. Mrs Wood asked for clarification as to which reports would be submitted to the PIER sub-committee. The Pensions Department listed the following:

· Mrs Wood’s GP, 9 May 2001

· Dr Helliwell, 22 May 2001

· Mrs Wood’s GP, 15 October 2001

· Functional capacity evaluation report by Ms Love, 22 May 2002

· Dr Helliwell, 22 July 2002

· Dr Helliwell, 30 August 2002

· Dr Cawley, 14 March 2003.

They also said that reports had been obtained from Mrs Wood’s GP, Dr Helliwell and Dr Collins but that these had not yet been provided by BMI.

25. Dr Collins sent a memo. to Dr Sheard, on 7 May 2003, in which she said:

“… [Mrs Wood] previously worked as a branch manager … This is a full-time office-based role. She works on the middle floor of a 3-floor building which has no lift. She normally drives to work involving a 15 to 20 minute drive and car parking is available.

She has been absent from work since April 2001 … She had been involved in a rear shunt road traffic accident in November 2000 and, after an absence of some 5 weeks, had then returned to work but was having problems with mid-thoracic back pain.

She has had a number of minor surgical procedures and fractures in the past but was in good health prior to the accident and led a very physically active life.

She has been diagnosed as suffering from fibromyalgia. A diagnosis which is confirmed both by Dr Helliwell, (Consultant Rheumatologist), Dr Clarke, (Consultant Rheumatologist) whom she saw as a second opinion in Bath, and most recently by Dr Cawley …

Her symptoms are principally of pain, largely in the mid-thoracic spine but also radiating to the neck and shoulders and down into the hips. She suffers frequent headaches, myalgia and fatigue.

In terms of activity she is able to walk up to a quarter of a mile with a stick. She rarely drives but when she does so she can drive for 7 to 8 miles. Her sitting tolerance is 20 minutes before movement. She is able to concentrate to watch television but does so from a lying position and reads a book for short periods. She can manage stairs … She is not involved in any computer activity in the home. Her partner does the majority of the housework, cooking and shopping.

Her current treatment is … She is under the care of the local pain clinic and is awaiting an intensive in-patient course … She has previously worked her way through a broad range of treatments including …

My conclusions are that:

· The diagnosis of fibromyalgia appears to be confirmed.

· The DDA is likely to apply.

· It is only as yet two years since the diagnosis and whilst she has undergone a broad range of treatment modalities so far she is as yet awaiting further treatment.

· Her main focus at present is on symptom reduction but she would like to be able to foresee a return to work assuming she is successful in achieving this. It is interesting that she had returned to work despite her symptoms and was seemingly sent home by her employer.

· I do not feel that permanency can be established at this point. With that in mind it is interesting to note Dr Cawley’s conclusions regarding a supported return to work at the conclusion of his report.

· I have advised her that a decision rests with NCRC.”

26. On 15 May 2003, Mrs Wood was notified that her employment would be terminated by Nationwide on 5 August 2003.

27. Dr Sheard reported on 19 May 2003:

“This lady’s two independent specialist opinions give a gloomy prognosis. The specialist would support the contention that this 43-year-old lady should be medically retired. It is not clear whether they know pension scheme criteria for the same. My colleague notes that it is only as yet two years since her diagnosis and that whilst she has undergone a broad range of treatments she is awaiting further treatment. It would be premature to suggest that permanency can be established. My colleague also notes that the latest specialist opinion suggests that a graded return to work could be attempted, supported by cognitive behavioural therapy although he is doubtful this would produce sufficient improvement to justify the investment of time and resources. I find this advice somewhat disappointing as it clearly identifies a potential treatment plan and suggests some optimism that we can rehabilitate this young lady back to useful employment but at the same time dismisses the option immediately.”

“Currently [Mrs Wood] is unable to work because of her fibromyalgia. Future employment prospects hinge on an improvement in her condition. The expectation is that this lady is to have further treatment …”

“Neither my colleague nor I could support the contention, even on the balance of probabilities, that [Mrs Wood] has a permanent incapacity at this stage …”

28. Mrs Wood was sent a copy of Dr Collins’ report on 11 June 2003. She submitted her comments on 14 June 2003. Mrs Wood said:

· Her fears concerning comments made by Dr Collins during the assessment and her suitability to make judgements about her condition had been justified,

· Dr Collins had misrepresented her,

· She wished the PIER sub-committee to take her own comments into account when considering Dr Collins’ report,

· Dr Collins had misrepresented her return to work. She had experienced considerable difficulty in returning to work,

· Dr Collins had quoted from Dr Cawley but had ignored Dr Helliwell.

29. Dr Helliwell wrote to Mrs Wood on 26 June 2003:

“Following your recent consultation with me I am writing to confirm that, in my opinion, your condition of the Fibromyalgia Syndrome is likely to be permanent. I base this opinion on my extensive personal experience of this condition which is supported by reports in medical literature.”

30. Mrs Wood wrote to the Pensions Department on 1 July 2003, explaining that she had consulted Dr Helliwell about Dr Collins’ report and that he was of the opinion that Dr Collins was not qualified to give an opinion on the condition or effects of fibromyalgia or to give a prognosis of its permanence. She also enclosed a copy of Dr Helliwell’s letter of 26 June 2003 and asked that it be submitted to the PIER sub-committee.

31. The PIER sub-committee met on 15 July 2003. They were provided with:

· An overview of Mrs Wood’s application prepared by an occupational health and safety adviser employed by Nationwide.

· A generic performance agreement for the role of branch manager.

· Mrs Wood’s absence record.

· A memo. from a Nationwide occupational health and safety assistant to a Nationwide personnel consultant and the reply.

· Medical reports specifically obtained for Mrs Wood’s PIER application.

· Additional medical reports obtained in relation to Mrs Wood’s sickness absence (a note to the application stated that Mrs Wood had asked that these reports be included).

· Copy correspondence.

32. The overview gave some details of Mrs Wood’s return to work in 2000/2001 and the suggestions which had been made to accommodate her difficulty in sitting at a desk for any length of time. The overview stated that the functional capacity evaluation, together with an alternative rehabilitation evaluation, had been discussed with Mrs Wood and arranged at her request. It stated that the subsequent report had indicated a gradual return to work programme, phased over a 4-8 week period, was feasible and that Mrs Wood’s area manager had drafted a proposed return to work programme. The overview stated that Mrs Wood had been provided with a copy of the functional capacity evaluation report and that she had provided copies of reports written by Dr Helliwell. It then explained that an appointment had been arranged with Dr Cawley. The overview concluded:

“[Mrs Wood] has expressed dissatisfaction with the PIER process, the separation of the [Prolonged Sickness Benefit] and PIER processes, the physicians selected and the credibility of the medical opinion contributing to the processes. In order that the PIER sub-committee is aware of her views in these matters, it has been agreed … that [Mrs Wood’s] correspondence and our replies are included in the PIER papers.”

33. The minutes of the PIER sub-committee meeting state:

“The sub-committee recommended that [Mrs Wood’s] application for a P.I.E.R. pension be declined as the medical recommendation does not support permanency of condition and disability from employment.”

34. On the same day, the Pensions Department wrote to Mrs Wood, explaining that the Trustees’ sub-committee had decided that she was not, at that time, eligible for a PIER pension. They said that the evidence had not satisfied the sub-committee that Mrs Wood’s condition was likely to be permanent and permanently incapacitating; at least until normal retirement age.

35. On 16 July 2003, Ms Love wrote to Nationwide in response to a query from it concerning the functional capacity evaluation report. She said:

“… I recall this patient very well, and the most vivid aspect of this assessment that I can recall was the patient’s ‘normal’ abilities, notwithstanding her incredibly high pain reporting. I have seen many patients over the span of my quite lengthy clinical career, and this lady was unique in that she was the only one ever to report 10/10 pain levels whilst simultaneously smiling and being quite cheerful. Patients experiencing severe and ‘crippling’ levels of pain do not in my experience act ‘normally’ at all.

You have raised the issue … of the relevance and appropriateness of functional assessment in Fibromyalgia cases specifically. To express my view I need to firstly say that the usual ‘medical model’ of largely reciting the patient’s subjective reporting (often coupled with a ‘default’ diagnosis, as perhaps in this case by a Rheumatologist) bears no linear relationship what ever to any associated degree of disability a patient may be suffering. The patient’s functional ability is the barometer of the degree by which they are affected by the impairment (i.e. diagnosis), and it is for that reason that we measure function, in order to establish the degree of associated disability. The purpose of the functional assessment is not to challenge the diagnosis, but rather to establish abilities, unlike the ‘medical model’ which casts its entire focus upon the impairment.

In this case the patient presented with some good function and postural tolerances, certainly enough to easily establish an immediate RTW programme, and she sustained this ‘normal’ function over the duration of a lengthy FCE after a reported 3-hour journey. It was also of note that her pain reporting did not significantly change during the evaluation, thus strongly suggesting that the testing itself did not stress her unduly, indeed she was willing and able to perform all of the testing up to a good level, including the ability to perform 21 forward bends and 40 step-ups! This is not the performance of a ‘disabled’ and/or fatigued person following a reported 3 hour journey. Thus, the FCE process was entirely appropriate and ‘valid’ in terms of setting achievable and sustainable vocational goals, irrespective of the diagnosis. Moreover, over time I have assessed numerous patients with confirmed diagnoses of Fibromyalgia, and I have to say that many are profoundly disabled by the condition and that is what I say in my reports.

However, [Mrs Wood] did not fall into that category. For example, during DTM testing she was reportedly unable to tolerate 1lb of light skin touch (pressure) over the spineous processes, yet no mention was made of any tenderness on many other occasions during the evaluation when considerably greater pressure was applied to the same areas … From the medical perspective one would expect a certain amount of alludinia with chronic pain, but surely one should also expect it to be consistently present, not consistently absent by distraction …

The functional assessment process is therefore entirely appropriate in Fibromyalgia cases, indeed all research to date on chronic pain patients overwhelmingly advocates that management of chronic pain is most successful within the workplace, and it was for that reason that I assessed this lady with a view to providing her with an enabling gateway through which she could resume a semblance of normal working life, subject to the restrictions indicated in my report. My recommendations were based on objective patient data, not professional guesswork, and to medically retire such a patient would in my view be absolutely unnecessary and unjustified, and may I say potentially disastrous for the patient herself in terms of future working, social interaction, role performance etc.

I know that in this case there was outstanding litigation as at May 2002, and I am not certain if that has now been settled. However, unresolved litigation is a known barrier to RTW and a powerful psychosocial reinforcer to mal-adapted Illness Behaviour and the adoption of the sick role, and I strongly suspect that the patient’s solicitors have obtained medical ‘evidence’ in support of their case for compensation – that too, is a known reinforcer, so I think we have to allow a measure of understanding in the patient’s favour in trying to understand her Illness behaviour and her adoption of the sick role, however, inappropriate it may be. The great problem is of course that many patients ‘buy into’ the disability role in order to augment their compensation pay out, and this is why it is so important to measure function to help them address that their perception (belief) of their degree of disability is out of kilter with the reality. Accordingly, looking at their own data in an FCE is often the patient’s first step to rationalisation of thought processes and adjustment of beliefs, and that is perhaps why the Royal College of Physicians has recently come out so strongly in favour of accentuating abilities, the so-called enabling approach or ‘social model’ of disability that we have been promoting for so many years and which has been firmly adopted by virtually every industrialised nation over recent years.”

36. Mrs Wood wrote to the Pensions Department on 22 July 2003, giving notice of her intention to appeal against the Trustees’ decision.

37. Dr Helliwell wrote to Mrs Wood on 20 August 2003:

“… You questioned whether [Dr Collins] was suitably qualified to express an opinion about fibromyalgia. I would be wary of anyone who has not had rheumatological training or who does not see cases of fibromyalgia regularly in the clinical setting expressing an opinion about the condition. I am not sure what Dr. Collins’s qualifications are but there is certainly no reference in the medical directory that she has a rheumatological background.

You asked my opinion about the permanence of your condition. Once fibromyalgia is established it does not go away. My clinical experience would support this … This impression is supported by the medical literature …

You were concerned about Dr. Collins’s conclusion that Dr. Cawley supported a return to work. My feeling is that she has probably misinterpreted his conclusions which state “although a graded return to work could be attempted … I am doubtful that this would produce sufficient improvement to justify the investment of time and resources”.

Lastly you questioned my knowledge about the Pain Program at Bath. I think the doctors at Bath would be the first to state that their program will not effect a cure but may allow an improvement in your symptoms. Should this be the case I do not think that it would be sufficient for you to be able to return to work and my personal experience is that a single treatment session at Bath does not produce any lasting improvement. Furthermore it is doubtful that they will have any additional modalities of treatment that have not already been tried without great success.

In summary I think you are right to challenge Dr. Collins’s report and her conclusions and I will certainly support you in this.”

38. Mrs Wood wrote to the Head of Pensions asking for a detailed explanation of the Trustees’ decision and for confirmation of which reports had been seen by the committee. She expressed the view that the committee had placed great reliance upon the reports from Ms Love and Dr Collins. Mrs Wood suggested that Ms Love’s report should not have been put before the committee and that Dr Collins was not qualified to offer an opinion on the permanency of her condition.

39. In response, the Head of Pensions said:

39.1. It was not the Trustees’ policy to give reasons other than those already stated, i.e. that they had to be satisfied that Mrs Wood’s condition was both permanent and prevented her from following her normal employment on a permanent basis.

39.2. There were many reports included in the papers provided for the committee, including those from Dr Helliwell.

39.3. He had been a member of the committee and therefore it would be improper for him to comment further.

39.4. Mrs Wood’s appeal would be heard by a sub-committee of three trustees and no-one who had been party to the original decision would be involved.

39.5. Mrs Wood could attend the committee meeting in person, if she wished.

40. The Internal Disputes Resolution (IDR) sub-committee met on 17 September 2003. The meeting was attended by Mrs Wood and a union representative. The PIER report put to the IDR sub-committee stated that the reason for declining Mrs Wood’s application for a PIER pension was:

“Medical evidence does not support permanency of disability and Blankenship Functional Capacity Evaluation indicates ability to undertake employment.”

41. The minutes of the IDR sub-committee meeting record:

“[Mrs Wood] outlined her case in detail. A particular issue covered was that she was unhappy about some of the medical reports, particularly the Blankenship assessment, that she considered as not relevant. She also stated that she needed a lot of medical assistance and that her condition was permanent.

The Trustees then asked [Mrs Wood] a number of questions about her condition. These included her level of pain, how she spent her days, her mobility and her exercise regime.

[The union representative] then said that he had observed [Mrs Wood] and in his view her condition was permanent and that she would be unable to return to her normal occupation.

[Mrs Wood] and [the union representative] left the meeting.

Trustee Decision
After careful consideration, the sub-committee upheld the decision by the PIER sub-committee to decline [Mrs Wood’s] application … In particular they concluded that there was no new evidence that supported permanence, although they were sympathetic to her medical condition. In particular in the letter they asked for the permanence criteria to be stressed and also to make clear that the sub-committee gave credence to the Blankenship assessment which formed part of the overall medical assessment.”

42. On 19 September 2003, the Chairman of the Trustees wrote to Mrs Wood, informing her that her appeal had been declined. He said:

42.1. The committee had decided to decline her appeal because the medical evidence did not support permanency of her condition and disablement until age 60.

42.2. The committee had reviewed the reports provided by Mrs Wood’s GP, Dr Helliwell, Ms Love and Dr Sheard.

42.3. All the medical reports had been seen by the PIER sub-committee.

42.4. Ms Love’s report was relevant evidence. It was important to have an additional independent assessment of her ability to undertake physical activities. The report was considered in conjunction with the other medical reports, including that from Dr Helliwell dated 20 August 2003.

43. Mrs Wood asked to see a copy of Dr Sheard’s report. This was sent to her on 29 September 2003.

44. Mrs Wood contacted the Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS). In response to an approach from TPAS, the Trustees said that they did not wish to seek a further independent medical opinion. They said that, if Mrs Wood’s condition were to deteriorate and new evidence was submitted, they would reconsider her case.

45. In July 2004, judgment was handed down in a case brought by Mrs Wood against the driver of the car which hit hers in November 2000. In connection with Mrs Wood’s claim, the judge was called upon to determine the extent to which she was prevented from returning to work. Medical evidence was provided by Dr Helliwell (for Mrs Wood) and a Dr Calin (for the Defendant). Mrs Wood sent a copy of the judgment to the Pensions Manager on 20 October 2004 and asked that it be submitted to the Trustees. Extracts from the judgment are set out in Appendix 2 to this determination.

46. The Pensions Manager acknowledged receipt of Mrs Wood’s letter and said that the judgment had been passed to the IDR sub-committee. He wrote to her again on 1 December 2004, explaining that the IDR sub-committee had decided that all of the paperwork connected with Mrs Wood’s case, including the judgment, should be considered by Trustees not previously involved in the case and that these Trustees would meet on 16 December 2004.

47. In response, Mrs Wood said that she had been in receipt of state benefits since her employment ended and that she had recently been assessed as eligible for the Higher Rate Disability Living Allowance. She asked that her letter also be submitted to the Trustees.

48. On 20 December 2004, the Pensions Manager wrote to Mrs Wood:

“… the three Trustees who sat on the Disputes sub-committee … together with two other Trustees have again thoroughly considered your case. Your letters dated 20 October 2004 (with a copy of the court judgement) and 2 December 2004 (referring to your eligibility for Higher Rate Disability Living Allowance) were taken into account.

Whilst sympathetic to your case the Trustees concluded that the original decision was correct and that despite having regard to your recent correspondence you remain ineligible for a permanent incapacity early retirement pension …”

49. On 21 August 2005, Dr Helliwell prepared a further report, at the request of Mrs Wood’s solicitors. Having set out a history of Mrs Wood’s condition, Dr Helliwell concluded:

“Mrs Wood has established and severe Fibromyalgia which has not improved despite seeing a number of medical specialists and receiving a variety of medical interventions. These have included various drugs and painful physical interventions involving injections to trigger points, ligaments and more recently thoracic facet joints. Furthermore, she has submitted herself to two residential Pain Management Programmes … without any lasting improvement in her symptoms.

There appears to be a consensus of opinions from both the medical and legal fields that Mrs Wood is not only unable to return to her previous work even on a part-time basis but she is also unable to return to work on a permanent basis in any capacity.

Furthermore, given the fact that she has no qualifications apart from seven O-levels and that for the majority of each week her symptoms render her housebound, I cannot in all honesty see how she would be employable for any form of work..”

50. Mrs Wood’s solicitors wrote to the Secretary to the Trustees on 17 March 2006, enclosing copies of medical reports and asking that the Trustees reconsider her case. In addition to the reports prepared by Drs Helliwell and Cawley, they enclosed a report prepared in connection with a critical illness claim recently settled under a policy with Nationwide Life. This report was prepared by a Chartered Occupational Psychologist, Mr Cheesman, who said:

“Current and future treatments
Mrs Wood reported the following treatment:

· Occasional consultations with Consultant Rheumatologist (Dr Helliwell)

· Pain Consultant – largely for medication reviews (Dr Hitchcock)

Mrs Wood is currently prescribed …

There are no active treatments at present, nor any treatments planned for the future. She stated that she has been told that there will be no further improvement. She reported having exhausted all possible interventions for the pain she experiences …”

“OBSERVATIONS
Mrs Wood used a walking stick in her right hand. She walked very slowly and only with the support of her husband. She was only able to sit for approximately ten minutes at a time and spent much of the interview standing up and walking around. She appeared to be in pain and did not look particularly comfortable. She was also in low mood and presented as distressed. Overall, she presented as being restricted in what she could do. She appeared to be reliant on her husband for support. There were no problems with communication and she was eloquent and considered in her response. I could see no evidence of any exaggeration on her part.”

“MOTIVATION TO RETURN TO WORK
Mrs Wood returned to work after the accident. Her condition reportedly deteriorated and she was unable to work after April 2001. She has made no attempt to return to work since then. She does not believe that she is capable of any form of employment. This has been confirmed to her in terms of the litigation she has now completed (see judgement) and medical reports. In line with this she sees little point in pursuing any form of vocational rehabilitation or retraining.

Mrs Wood believes that she would not be able to cope with work even if it was at home and on a part-time basis. She stated that she would not be able to cope as a result of her chronic pain and restrictions described above.”

51. Dr Cheesman listed a number of recommendations to assist Mrs Wood, for example, identifying an effective pain intervention, assessment of any working environment, access to aids and adaptations, self-employment and working from home, voice-operated software and psychological review. He went on to say that a reduction in pain would lead to the possibility of part-time, home-based employment and suggested administration, book-keeping and proof-reading as examples. Dr Cheesman concluded:

“Mrs Wood presents as being in chronic pain and very restricted in what she is able to do. This impression was confirmed both by medical reports and by interview. In conclusion:

· At present there is little chance, of any sustained employment. Improvement in pain management and her reported symptoms would be required before any employment could be considered.”

52. Mrs Wood’s case was considered by the Trustees at a meeting on 18 April 2006. On 20 April 2006, the Secretary to the Trustees wrote to Mrs Wood’s solicitors:

“… the report commissioned by Nationwide Life in connection with the critical illness claim was noted, but they did not consider this to be relevant to Mrs Wood’s application for a PIER pension as the criteria are different …

Unfortunately the sub-committee, whilst being sympathetic to Mrs Wood’s case, did not consider that the new evidence altered the previous decisions …”

SUBMISSIONS

The Trustees

53. The Trustees submit:

53.1. The PIER sub-committee, which met on 15 July 2003, recommended that Mrs Wood’s application be declined because the medical evidence presented did not support permanency (or the likelihood of permanency) of her condition and disablement from her normal employment until age 60.

53.2. The Trustees’ sub-committees fully considered all the medical evidence provided and concluded that Mrs Wood was not permanently disabled from her normal employment and did not meet the criteria for an ill health pension.

53.3. Mrs Wood’s application has been considered as an active member of the Scheme. This would be the case until such time as the original application and appeal were considered exhausted. Only once the appeal was exhausted and a new application received would the application be considered under Rule 4.6(2) rather than Rule 4.7.

53.4. The functional evaluation report was only part of the evidence considered. The four key reports were:

· Report from Mrs Wood’s GP, dated 13 February 2003,

· Report from Dr Helliwell, dated 13 February 2003,

· Report from Dr Collins, dated 7 May 2003, and

· Recommendations from Dr Sheard, dated 19 May 2003.

53.5. The July 2004 judgment was noted by the Trustees but they considered it not to be relevant to an application for a PIER pension.

53.6. New evidence in respect of Mrs Wood’s original application could be considered under Rule 4.7.

53.7. Mrs Wood’s critical illness claim was noted by the Trustees but they considered it not to be relevant to her application for a PIER pension.

53.8. The allegation of bias and prejudice against the Chair of the Trustees’ IDR sub-committee is refuted. He was not involved in the original decision made by the PIER sub-committee nor the sub-committee which met in April 2006 to consider Mrs Wood’s case.

53.9. At all stages, the medical evidence has been carefully considered by the Trustees but they did not ask for an additional report in March 2004.

CONCLUSIONS

54. Under the Scheme Rules (see Appendix 1), Mrs Wood was entitled to a pension if she retired from service suffering from Incapacity. Although the Rule refers to Nationwide giving consent and agreeing that the circumstances of leaving constitute retirement, the Trustees say that, in practice, this did not usually happen. The Rules provide for the Trustees to determine whether the member is suffering from Incapacity, i.e. whether the member is permanently disabled from his or her normal employment. In Mrs Wood’s case, this was as a branch manager.

55. There seems to be no disagreement as to the condition that Mrs Wood is suffering from (Fibromyalgia). Her application has been declined because the Trustees take the view that her condition has not been shown to be likely to be permanent.

56. In coming to their decision, the Trustees considered reports from Mrs Wood’s GP, Dr Helliwell, Dr Cawley, Dr Collins and Dr Sheard, together with a Functional Capacity Evaluation Report prepared by Ms Love. It would be fair to say that, despite expressing some optimism at the outset, the GP and Dr Helliwell are of the opinion that Mrs Wood is permanently incapable of returning to her former role as a branch manager. On the other hand, both Dr Collins and Dr Sheard expressed the view that permanence had not been established.

57. Dr Collins and Dr Sheard based their opinions on the fact that Mrs Wood had only been diagnosed within the previous two years, she still had some treatment options available to her, and Dr Cawley’s closing remarks in his report of March 2003. I have read Dr Cawley’s report and, in particular, the comments in question. Dr Cawley says that a graded return to work “could be attempted” but then goes on to say that he is “doubtful that this would produce sufficient improvement to justify the investment of time and resources”. Dr Sheard described this as “disappointing” advice because he felt that Dr Cawley had identified a potential treatment plan and suggested some “optimism” that it was possible to rehabilitate Mrs Wood back to useful employment but at the same time dismissed the option immediately. Dr Cawley was giving his view, as a specialist in treating Fibromyalgia, of the likely (poor) outcome of a particular course of action. It might be a disappointing view but that makes it no less valid.

58. In addition to the medical reports, the Trustees also had before them a copy of Ms Love’s functional capacity evaluation. I note that Ms Love has defended the relevance of such a report with some vigour. I am doubtful, however, that her report offered the Trustees much aid in deciding whether Mrs Wood’s condition was likely to be permanent, since it provided more of an assessment of her current capability than a long term view.

59. The Trustees have also been provided with a copy of the court judgment of July 2004 and Mr Cheesman’s report. I acknowledge that neither of these specifically addressed Mrs Wood’s eligibility for an incapacity pension under the Scheme Rules; the court case concerned compensation for her car accident and Mr Cheesman was considering her eligibility under a critical illness policy. They, nevertheless, provided useful, relevant information for the Trustees.

60. I do not consider that the Trustees were bound by the court’s decision. They were still required to come to their own decision under the terms of the Scheme Rules. Nevertheless, there are strong parallels between the question to be decided by the court (to what extent had Mrs Wood’s ability to return to work in the future been affected by the accident?) and that to be decided by the Trustees (was Mrs Wood likely to be permanently disabled from doing her normal employment?). Sufficiently strong, in my view, for the outcome of the court case to carry some weight with the Trustees in reconsidering Mrs Wood’s application. Clearly, in assessing any damages award loss of potential earnings capacity is a major consideration and it is perhaps noteworthy also that the court had before it evidence not considered by the Trustees. 

61. Mr Cheesman, whilst not commenting on Mrs Wood’s likely future ability to undertake her normal employment, offered a view as to what she might be capable of, if there was some improvement in her symptoms, i.e. part-time, home based employment. A medical report does not always have to answer the question of eligibility for pension directly to, nevertheless, provide the decision maker with relevant information. It may require the decision maker to interpret the adviser’s comments in the light of the scheme rules in a more active way but this is the decision maker’s role. It is not the decision maker’s role simply to passively accept an opinion expressed by an adviser.

62. In summary, the evidence falls into two camps:

Supportive of Mrs Wood’s application

Mrs Wood’s GP

Dr Helliwell

Dr Cawley

The 2004 court judgment

Mr Cheesman
Not supportive of Mrs Wood’s application

Ms Love

Dr Collins

Dr Sheard

63. I am not for a moment suggesting that the approach to be taken by the Trustees should simply be a matter of numbers. Nor is there anything intrinsically wrong with their favouring one opinion over another, even where that might be favouring the opinion of a generalist over that of a specialist, provided that this comes as a result of a careful weighing of all the evidence before them. Particularly bearing in mind what I have said above about the usefulness of Ms Love’s evidence in arriving at a sound prognosis, it is difficult, in this case, to conclude that the weight of the evidence supports the Trustees’ decision.

64. Where the decision maker has exercised a discretion, it is not open to me to substitute my own opinion for that of the decision maker. The proper course of action is for me to remit the decision for further consideration. However, in Mrs Wood’s case, the Trustees are not exercising a discretion; rather they are reaching a factual conclusion. Where I am satisfied that there is sufficient evidence available to make a finding of fact, it is not necessary for me to remit the decision to the Trustees.

65. I am satisfied that, in Mrs Wood’s case, the evidence supports the contention that she is likely, on the balance of probabilities, to be permanently disabled from undertaking her normal employment, i.e. employment as a branch manager. I am directing the Trustees to pay Mrs Wood an incapacity pension backdated to the day her employment ceased. I observe that Mrs Wood has already received damages which reflect future loss of earnings and that an incapacity pension is in effect intended also to replace future earnings. Whilst on the face of it receiving both may seem curious, there is nothing in the Scheme Rules to consider in relation to an incapacity pension beyond the eligibility criteria initially or whether the claimant’s health improves in the future.

DIRECTIONS

66. I now direct that, within 28 days of the date hereof, the Trustees shall pay to Mrs Wood a backdated incapacity pension, together with simple interest at the rate quoted by the reference banks for the appropriate time.

CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

31 May 2007

APPENDIX 1

Trust Deed and Rules

67. The Fund is governed by a Trust Deed and Rules dated 14 January 2002. Rule 4.7 provides:

“INCAPACITY PENSION
(1)
If an Active Member suffering from Incapacity (and having provided the Trustees with any evidence of Incapacity that they require) leaves Service with the consent of the Principal Employer before Normal Retirement Age in circumstances agreed by the Principal Employer to constitute retirement that Member shall be entitled to a pension payable for the remainder of his or her life …”

68. “Incapacity” is defined as:

“… disablement from his or her normal employment established to the satisfaction of the Trustees as likely to be permanent by reason of injury or physical or mental ill-health.”

69. The Trustees state that, in practice, Nationwide did not give consent under Rule 4.7 and this provision was removed in August 2005.

APPENDIX 2

July 2004 Judgment

70. The judgment referred to medical records/reports prepared in the period after Mrs Wood’s accident, including those prepared by Dr Helliwell and Dr Cawley. Dr Helliwell was called by Mrs Wood as an expert witness. A Dr Calin was called by the defendant. The major part of the discussion within the judgment report concerns the likely trigger for Mrs Wood’s development of fibromyalgia. On the question of whether Mrs Wood would be able to return to work, the report stated that Dr Calin’s opinion was that the prognosis for fibromyalgia sufferers was poor and that the majority did not return to work. He was reported as having said that, although going back to work was good for fibromyalgia sufferers, it was unlikely that Mrs Wood would return to full time work. Dr Helliwell was reported to have said that it would be a good thing if Mrs Wood could do some part-time work but that he did not believe that she could return to her old job, because she had tried this and failed.

71. On the question of whether Mrs Wood was able to return to work, the judge found:

“… criticised the Claimant as a witness and submitted that she tended to exaggerate her pain and disability. One feature of fibromyalgia appears to be that sufferers from that condition have low self esteem and perceive themselves as being able to do very little for themselves, it is, therefore, not surprising that they do not tend to create a particularly good impression when they give evidence. In the present case the Claimant’s evidence was supported by her partner … whom I found to be a reliable witness and whose evidence I accept. I also accept the evidence of the Claimant in relation to her difficulties when she did return to work in December 2000 … relied upon the videos taken of the Claimant at the end of 2002 and during 2003. I have watched those videos and I accept … submissions that they support the evidence of the Claimant and her partner that she invariably uses a stick and that she has difficulty with most activities, including walking.

Both experts agree that the prognosis for the Claimant is poor. It is also accepted that most fibromyalgia sufferers do not return to work. Dr Calin suggested that a return to at least part-time work is possible and would be therapeutic. The Claimant is now 44, she has tried to return to work and I am satisfied that she would like to return to work if possible. I find that given her condition it is unlikely that she can now or in the future return to even part-time work …”

� A computerised system created in 1984, whereby an evaluator assesses strength, endurance, motivation, cardiovascular fitness and physical impairment. The system uses equipment which tests a range of movements and the ability to lift static weights. Other tests include pain mapping and repetitive actions, such as squatting or reaching.
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